IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

STATE OF IOWA,	)	
	)	
Plaintiff–Appellee,	)	
	)	
v.	)	S.CT. NO. 19–1697
	)	
PATRICK BARRETT, JR.,	)	
	)	
Defendant–Appellant.	)	

---

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT  
FOR CASS COUNTY  
THE HONORABLE JEFFREY L. LARSON, JUDGE

---

APPELLANT’S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT  
AND  
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

---

MARTHA J. LUCEY  
State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY  
Assistant Appellate Defender  
mconroy@spd.state.ia.us  
appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER  
Fourth Floor Lucas Building  
Des Moines, Iowa 50319  
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT–APPELLANT

## **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

### **DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT’S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL AFTER THE CONFIDENTIAL RECORDS WERE DISCLOSED TO THE DEFENSE ON REMAND?**

#### **Authorities**

- Fry v. Blauvelt, 818 N.W.2d 123, 128 (Iowa 2012)
- State v. Romeo, 542 N.W.2d 543, 551 (Iowa 1996)
- State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239 (Iowa 2001)
- State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997)
- Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 2000)
- State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 760 (Iowa 2010)
- State v. Bumpus, 459 N.W.2d 619, 622 (Iowa 1990)
- State v. Cashen, 789 N.W.2d 400, 405 (Iowa 2010)
- Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(a) (2017)
- Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(b) (2017)
- State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180, 197 (Iowa 2013)
- Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(c) (2017)
- Iowa Code § 622.10(4)(a)(2)(d) (2017)
- State v. Barrett, No. 17–1814, 2018 WL 6132275, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018) (unpublished table decision)

DeSimone v. State, 803 N.W.2d 97, 105 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Edouard, 854 N.W.2d 421, 442 (Iowa 2014)

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699, 708 n.3  
(Iowa 2016)

State v. Swartz, 506 N.W.2d 792, 795 (Iowa Ct. App. 1993)

Moon v. State, 911 N.W.2d 137 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Harrington, 659 N.W.2d 509, 515 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa Code § 622.10(4) (2017)

Cockerham v. State, 933 P.2d 537, 541–42 (Alaska 1997)

People v. Boyette, 201 Cal.App.3d 1527, 1534  
(Cal Ct. App. 1988)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 9

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

Commonwealth v. Bishop, 617 N.E.2d 990, 994 (Mass. 1993)

California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984)

John A. Burgess, Persuasive Cross-Examination, 59 Am.Jur.  
Trials 1, § 19 (2013)

Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318 (1974)



State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470, 495 (Iowa 2013)

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963)

Pennsylvania v. Ritchie, 480 U.S. 39, 58 (1987)

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985)

Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 290 (1999)

Aguilera v. State, 807 N.W.2d 249, 255 (Iowa 2011)

United States v. Robinson, 583 F.3d 1265, 1271  
(10th Cir. 2009)

United States v. Payne, 63 F.3d 1200, 1210 (2d Cir. 1995)

State v. Ary, 877 N.W.2d 686, 691–92 (Iowa 2016)

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Iowa Supreme Court has “trust[ed] Iowa district court judges . . . [to] be able to recognize exculpatory information when they see it.” State v. Thompson, 836 N.W.2d 470, 487 (Iowa 2013). In a previous appeal in this case, the Court of Appeals found the district court failed to recognize and disclose exculpatory evidence to the defense pursuant to Iowa Code section 622.10(4). See State v. Barrett, No. 17–1814, 2018 WL 6132275, at \*3 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018) (unpublished table decision). It remanded for a determination of whether the defendant was entitled to a new trial. Id.

This Court’s guidance is needed on the standard the district court should apply when determining whether the defendant is entitled to a new trial after the district court conducts an in camera review and fails to disclose relevant and material information, pursuant to section 622.10(4). Since the enactment of the statute, Iowa courts have reversed several cases, concluding that the defendant was entitled an in camera review of mental health records under the statute.

See, e.g., State v. Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d 180, 220 (Iowa 2013); State v. Edouard, 854 N.W.2d 421, 442–43 (Iowa 2014); State v. Leedom, 938 N.W.2d 177, 186–89 (Iowa 2020); State v. Retterath, No. 16–1710, 2017 WL 6516729, at \*11 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2017) (unpublished table decision). However, the procedure and standard for the district court’s determination of whether the defendant is entitled to a new trial after the trial court erroneously denied the defendant access to records that he is statutory entitled to has not been addressed and is a matter of first impression. As such, this Court should retain the case. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**Nature of the Case:** Defendant–Appellant Patrick Barrett, Jr., appeals from the denial of his motion for new trial after a previous appeal from his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a jury trial and verdict finding him guilty of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree, in Cass County District Court Case No. FECR015208.

**Course of Proceedings:** On October 11, 2016, the State charged Barrett with two counts of sexual abuse in the second degree, a class “B” felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(3) and 709.3(1)(b)(2). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5–7). In both counts, the State alleged Barrett performed sex acts with A.F., a child under twelve years old. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5–7). Barrett filed a written arraignment and plea of not guilty to the charges on November 4, 2016. (Arraignment & Plea) (App. pp. 8–9). He also waived his right to a speedy trial within ninety days. (Arraignment & Plea) (App. pp. 8–9).

Prior to trial, on January 23, 2017, Barrett filed a request for discovery, including copies of all A.F.’s mental health care records from the Center for Healing and Hope, copies of all child protective services reports, copies of any counseling or mental health treatment records after January 1, 2016, and copies of any juvenile court files, records and reports related to A.F. (Request Discovery) (App. pp. 10–11). The State resisted these requests in the motion. (Resistance) (App. pp. 12–16). After hearing, the district court ordered the State produce the

mental health treatment records for the court to conduct an in camera review, pursuant to Iowa Code section 622.10(4). (02/22/2017 Order) (App. pp. 19–20). The district court reviewed the records and determined the release to the defense was not appropriate under section 622.10(4). (Ruling Request Medical Records) (App. pp. 21–24).

A jury trial commenced on September 12, 2017. (Tr. p.1 L.1–25). After the close of the State’s evidence, Barrett successfully moved for judgment of acquittal on the second count of sexual abuse in the second degree, arguing the State failed to prove A.F. was twelve years old or younger. (Tr. p.345 L.3–p.347 L.7). As a result, the jury received the charges of sexual abuse in the second degree and sexual abuse in the third degree. (Verdict Form Count I, Verdict Form Count II) (App. pp. 27–28). On September 14, 2017, the jury returned a verdict finding Barrett guilty of count I: sexual abuse in the second degree and not guilty of count II: sexual abuse in the third degree. (Tr. p.506 L.8–p.508 L.16) (Verdict Form Count I, Verdict Form Count II) (App. pp. 27–28).

On October 20, 2017, Barrett was sentenced to an indeterminate term not to exceed twenty-five years. (Tr. p.523 L.3–8) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 34–37). Pursuant to Iowa Code section 902.12, the sentence carries a mandatory minimum of seven-tenths that must be served before Barrett is eligible for parole. (Tr. p.523 L.13–19) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 34–37). Barrett was also ordered to complete the sex offender treatment program and comply with the sex offender registry for life pursuant to Iowa Code section 692A. (Tr. p.523 L.20–p.524 L.14) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 34–37). The court also imposed a lifetime special sentence, pursuant to Iowa Code section 903B.1, and it ordered Barrett to submit a DNA sample. (Tr. p.523 L.25–p.524 L.22) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 34–37). Lastly, the court imposed a no contact order with A.F. for five years. (Tr. p.525 L.2–4) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 34–37).

Barrett appealed. See State v. Barrett, No. 17–1814, 2018 WL 6132275 (Iowa Ct. App. Nov. 21, 2018) (unpublished table decision). In part, he argued the district court erred in

denying his requests for A.F.'s medical records. Id. at \*1. The case was transferred to the Court of Appeals, which concluded the district court abused its discretion in finding the challenged records did not contain exculpatory information. Id. at \*3. The Court of Appeals also found that not only did the records contain exculpatory information, but that the district court should have mandated the material's disclosure under the balancing test of Iowa Code section 622.10(4). Id. at \*3. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals remanded, ordering the district court to disclose the exculpatory portions of the medical records to the defense. Id. at \*3. The Court of Appeals further ordered the district court to determine whether a new trial was needed in light of the undisclosed exculpatory material. Id. at \*3 (citation omitted). The State filed an application for further review, which the Supreme Court denied. *Procedendo* issued on January 21, 2019. (*Procedendo*) (App. pp. 38–40).

On remand, the district court ordered the disclosure of the challenged evidence that the Court of Appeals found was

exculpatory. (Order 01/23/19) (App. pp. 41–42). Newly appointed counsel<sup>1</sup> filed a motion for a new trial, which the State resisted. (Mot. New Trial, Resist. Mot. New Trial) (App. pp. 47–54). At the hearing on the motion, Barrett entered the challenged evidence into the record and evidence that A.F.’s half-brother, Shawn Williams, had been convicted of sexual abuse in the third degree and had been charged with sex-offender-registry violation. On September 30, 2019, the district court denied the motion for a new trial. (Ruling Mot. New Trial) (App. pp. 58–62).

Barrett timely filed a notice of appeal on October 8, 2019. (Notice) (App. pp. 63–64).

**Facts:** A.F. was fourteen years old at the time of trial and thirteen at the time he alleged Barrett had been sexually abusing him; A.F. claimed the abuse started in 2010, when he was seven years old and continued until he turned thirteen in the summer of 2016. (Tr. p.173 L.12–15, p.183 L.19–24,

---

<sup>1</sup> Barrett retained private counsel for the trial in the underlying case. See (Order 09/05/2017).



p.248 L.12–13). Barrett and A.F are first cousins; Barrett is the son of A.F’s father’s sister. (Tr. p.181 L.23–p.182 L.1). A.F.’s parents separated in late 2008, and they eventually divorced in 2010. (Tr. p.178 L.13–p.179 L.2; p.396 L.1–4).

Initially after the separation, A.F.’s father had custody of A.F. for alternating one week increments at his home in Council Bluffs, which belonged to A.F.’s now-stepmother, whom A.F.’s father began dating during his separation from A.F.’s mother. (Tr. p.182 L.2–17; p.370 L.2–11, p.396 L.24–p.397 L.13). Sometimes when A.F. was visiting, Barrett would also be there to visit the family or help babysit. (Tr. p.182 L.2–p.183 L.3; p.365 L.19–p.366 L.1). When visiting, Barrett frequently played video games in A.F.’s older brother’s room with Williams; it was not uncommon for A.F. and A.F.’s siblings and half siblings to also play. (Tr. p.183 L.9–p.184 L.1; p.370 L.23–p.372 L.17, p.389 L.8–14).

At trial, A.F. testified that once, when he was seven or eight years old, he and Barrett were playing video games alone in Williams’s room when Barrett had him go to a space near

the bed on the floor. (Tr. p.190 L.12–p.192 L.8). A.F. claimed Barrett then locked the door. (Tr. p.193 L.20–p.194 L.2). A.F. testified Barrett told A.F. to remove A.F.’s pants and boxers, which A.F. did, while Barrett took off his own clothes; A.F. claimed Barrett told him “to be quiet and not to say anything.” (Tr. p.192 L.2–13). A.F. testified Barrett told him to hold his knees to his chest while Barrett held A.F.’s legs up with his hands. (Tr. p.192 L.17–21). A.F. testified then Barrett tried to insert his penis into A.F.’s anus, but was unsuccessful; however, A.F. stated Barrett’s penis touched his butt. (Tr. p.192 L.23–p.193 L.12). A.F. testified it stopped because Barrett heard someone coming up the stairs towards the room. (Tr. p.193 L.13–19). A.F. testified that after it was over, Barrett told him: “Don’t say anything about this.” (Tr. p.194 L.194 L.14–15).

A.F. testified Barrett sexually abused him multiple times when the family was living in Council Bluffs. (Tr. p.194 L.19–20). A.F. did not know the amount of times it occurred, but he estimated it was somewhere between ten and thirty times,

which occurred over the span of a year. (Tr. p.194 L.21–p.195 L.1). A.F. also testified that he put his mouth on Barrett’s penis once in Council Bluffs. (Tr. p.200 L.2–7).

A.F.’s father moved from Council Bluffs to outside of Spencer and then to Griswold, Iowa. (Tr. p.182 L.5–14; p.385 L.23–p.386 L.14). A.F. testified he would have been nine to eleven years old when his father lived in Griswold. (Tr. p.195 L.7–9). After the family moved, the custody agreement between A.F.’s parents changed so that A.F. would visit his father every other weekend. (Tr. p.196 L.11–12; p.370 L.8–11, p.397 L.1–p.398 L.19). At the Griswold house, Barrett would bring his video game console and play in the living room or in A.F.’s bedroom. (Tr. p.184 L.17–24, p.195 L.21–5). A.F. testified Barrett visited the house and stayed overnight approximately three times a month. (Tr. p.196 L.9–10).

A.F.’s father had a house rule of no electronics for the children after a certain time. (Tr. p.196 L.24–p.197 L.4; p.384 L.17–21, p.424 L.22–25). A.F. testified that in Griswold he and Barrett would be playing video games in A.F.’s bedroom;

Barrett would stop the game at the set time of the rule and ask A.F. he wanted to continue playing the game. (Tr. p.197 L.2–11). A.F. testified that if he wanted to continue to play Barrett would make A.F. touch Barrett’s penis with his hands; A.F. stated Barrett would place his hands on top of A.F.’s hands and move them on Barrett’s penis. (Tr. p.197 L.11–25). A.F. testified Barrett did not get an erection while doing this. (Tr. p.198 L.19). A.F. also testified that sometimes in order to continue playing he would let Barrett would touch his own penis. (Tr. p.198 L.20–21). A.F. stated Barrett would make him lay on the bed with his shirt up and pants halfway down, and Barrett would move his hand on A.F.’s penis. (Tr. p.198 L.20–p.199 L.1).

A.F. testified that once he lay down on the bed and Barrett put his mouth on A.F.’s penis. (Tr. p.199 L.2–22). A.F. also testified he put his mouth on Barrett’s penis several times in the house the family moved to in Griswold. (Tr. p.200 L.2–7). A.F. testified once he was sitting on the edge of the bed when Barrett stood in front of him, with his pants off and

boxers down. (Tr. p.200 L.8–21). A.F. testified Barrett asked him to put Barrett’s penis in A.F.’s mouth, which A.F. did; A.F. testified Barrett told him to move back and forth and forced A.F.’s head back and forth with his hands. (Tr. p.200 L.24–15). A.F. testified Barrett had an erection when this occurred. (Tr. p.201 L.16–17). A.F. testified he had trouble remembering all the individual times this abuse occurred, but it happened multiple times. (Tr. p.201 L.18–25). A.F. claimed Barrett ejaculated twice—once in a sock and once in A.F.’s mouth. (Tr. p.202 L.5–19).

A.F. also described an incident in the Griswold house where Barrett inserted his penis into A.F.’s anus. (Tr. p.203 L.3–5). A.F. testified they had again been playing video games when Barrett made A.F. lay down with his knees to his chest. (Tr. p.203 L.3–10). A.F. testified he thought Barrett spit on his hand, put the spit on A.F.’s anus, and then inserted his penis into A.F.’s anus. (Tr. p.203 L.7–15). A.F. testified Barrett started moving his body back and forth before A.F. told him to stop because it was painful. (Tr. p.204 L.7–23). A.F. told

Project Harmony that Barrett sexually abused him approximately ten times while the family lived in Griswold. (Tr. p.233 L.16–18). However, A.F.’s father testified Barrett only visited the family in Griswold approximately six times total, and for only two or three of those visits was A.F. also at the house. (Tr. p.399 L.16–p.400 L.4).

After Griswold, A.F.’s father moved to Lewis, Iowa. (Tr. p.182 L.5–14). At trial, A.F. testified Barrett touched him once in Lewis; A.F. was playing hide-and-seek with Barrett, his sisters, and his younger half-siblings. (Tr. p.204 L.1–10). A.F. testified he was the seeker and Barrett found him alone in his half-brother’s room instead of hiding. (Tr. p.205 L.10–25). A.F. stated Barrett put his hand on A.F.’s penis over A.F.’s clothing and asked A.F. to remove his pants and underwear. (Tr. p.205 L.14–p.208 L.2). A.F. said he made some excuses and something happened that he did not remember at trial, but that he left the room. (Tr. p.206 L.20–p.208 L.2). A.F. testified that was the last time Barrett sexually abused him. (Tr. p.208 L.3–11). However, A.F. stated in his Project

Harmony interview that Barrett sexually abused him multiple times in Lewis. (Tr. p.233 L.19–22).

A.F. initially had an interview with Project Harmony, where both his mother and father were present; however neither parent was allowed to watch the interview or was told by the interviewer or by the police what was disclosed. (Tr. p.218 L.15–24; p.319 L.7–11, p.426 L.1–6). In the first interview, A.F. only disclosed Barrett had inappropriately touched him, and one incident of anal sex in the Griswold house. (Tr. p.223 L.20–18–24, p.232 L.18–24). After his first interview with Project Harmony, A.F. was told his physical exam was normal. (Tr. p.232 L.15–20; p.332 L.10–15). Moreover, in his physical exam, A.F. stated that all of the abuse was Barrett committing sex acts on him; he also denied ever putting Barrett’s penis in his mouth. (Tr. p.329 L.6–15, p.330 L.2–7, p.342 L.18–23).

Approximately one week after the first interview, A.F.’s mother contacted Project Harmony and took A.F. back alone. (Tr. p.218 L.1–24). A.F. told the interviewer he was back

because his mother said there was a bunch of questions to which he answered: “I don’t know.” (Tr. p.218 L.1–17; p.270 L.18–2). A.F. denied talking to his mother about the contents of his first interview after it and before the second interview. (Tr. p.218 L.25–17). In the second interview, A.F. made more allegations, including oral sex. (Tr. p.232 L.18–24).

Prior to trial, A.F. never disclosed that Barrett had ever attempted anal sex in Council Bluffs. (Tr. p.216 L.25–p.217 L.4, p.336 L.5–14). A.F. only alleged Barrett had inappropriately touched him in Council Bluffs. (Tr. p.225 L.20–23). A.F. also denied Barrett ever ejaculated or had an erection in the Project Harmony interview. (Tr. p.231 L.231 L.18–24). In his Project Harmony interview, A.F. could not describe Barrett’s penis, nor could he describe what it felt like to have oral sex. (Tr. p.231 L.25–p.232 L.4).

A.F. testified he did not consider his father supportive of him and he did not trust him enough to disclose the abuse. (Tr. p.222 L.21–22, p.239 L.13–21). A.F. believed his father unsupportive because his father liked his twin sister better.



(Tr. p.222 L.23–p.223 L.2). A.F. admitted to being angry that his father started dating while his parents were separated. (Tr. p.237 L.10–23). A.F.’s father testified sometimes A.F. confided in him about things that were worrying him, but never mentioned any sexual abuse. (Tr. p.401 L.23–p.402 L.6, p.405 L.8–11). A.F.’s father also testified they would talk about A.F.’s problems and he never disclosed any abuse. (Tr. p.407 L.19–21). A.F.’s father stated that A.F. was angry with him because he favored A.F.’s twin sister, which he admitted. (Tr. p.418 L.18–p.419 L.1).

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