IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 19–1697

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

PATRICK BARRETT, JR., Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CASS COUNTY THE HONORABLE JEFFREY L. LARSON, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

LOUIS S. SLOVEN

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 Louie.Sloven@ag.iowa.gov

VANESSA E. STRAZDAS Cass County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

2. If "exculpatory" in section 622.10(4) is read to mirror "favorability" under Brady, then a similar "materiality" requirement should apply: retrial should only be required if a defendant establishes a reasonable probability of a different result.

Iowa courts have adopted a view of the term "exculpatory" in section 622.10(4)(a)(2) that includes all impeachment evidence by drawing an analogy to *Brady* cases. See Leedom, 938 N.W.2d at 188 (quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 676; DeSimone, 803 N.W.2d at 105). But the expansive reach of the "favorability" prong of *Brady* is limited by the "materiality" prong. A Brady violation can only exist "when the favorable, suppressed evidence is material to the issue of guilt." See DeSimone, 803 N.W.2d at 105. This requires the defendant to prove "a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." See id. (quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 682); accord Kyles v. Whitney, 514 U.S. 419, 435 (1995) (explaining that *Brady* materiality is satisfied by showing the evidence could "put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict"). In the *Brady* context, this supplants the constitutional harmless-error standard. See Kyles, 514 U.S. at 435–36. Here, too, materiality should supplant any otherwise applicable test for determining whether a new trial is "necessary."

To be sure, section 622.10(4) and *Brady* are very different. Unlike section 622.10(4), *Brady* is constitutionally required by the Due Process Clause. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 85–86 (1963). The Iowa legislature enacted section 622.10(4) in response to the decision in *State v. Cashen*, which invented a protocol for requests for privileged records that "g[ave] the defendant more power than necessary to protect the right to a fair trial." See State v. Cashen, 789 N.W.2d 400, 411–12 (Iowa 2010) (Cady, J., dissenting). That erosion of privilege led Iowans "to supersede the Cashen test with a protocol that restores protection for the confidentiality of counseling records" while offering defendants enough access to avoid unconstitutionality. See Thompson, 836 N.W.2d at 481. The confidentiality interests that lay at the heart of section 622.10(4) are not implicated by Brady.

But there is one key similarity: *Brady* defines a minimum level of disclosures that must be made to vindicate due process concerns. That matches the strength and reach of the analogous protections that the Iowa legislature intended to create within section 622.10(4): the absolute minimum required to avoid constitutional infirmity. *See id.* at 486–87 (noting review of privileged records by defense counsel is not constitutionally required, and section 622.10(4)'s procedure for

in camera review was "constitutionally sufficient" under Ritchie); cf. Slaughter v. Des Moines Univ. College of Oseteopathic Med., 925 N.W.2d 793, 802 (Iowa 2019) (noting that section 622.10 is intended to protect the statutorily enumerated privileges, and Iowa courts will "construe section 622.10 liberally to carry out this purpose"). Thus, it makes sense to import the *Brady* materiality standard to determine whether a violation of section 622.10(4) necessitates a new trial.

The United States Supreme Court rejected materiality standards for *Brady* that resembled a harmless-error analysis, out of reluctance to create any constitutional rule that would require all prosecutors in every state to adopt open-file policies to avoid post-verdict reversal. See, e.g., United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 108-09 (1976) (rejecting materiality standard that would effectively mean that "the prosecutor has a constitutional obligation to disclose any information that might affect the jury's verdict" because "[w]hether or not procedural rules authorizing such broad discovery might be desirable, the Constitution surely does not demand that much"); accord Bagley, 473 U.S. at 680 (noting that Agurs "rejected a harmless-error rule" because it would have "impos[ed] on the prosecutor a constitutional duty to deliver his entire file to defense counsel"). Similarly, the Iowa legislature had no

desire to enact a rule that incentivized Iowa district court judges to disclose every privileged record that is arguably exculpatory, in the hopes of avoiding reversal and retrial. Adopting a harmless-error standard would have the same effect identified in *Agurs* and *Bagley* but its impact would be far worse. The consequences of incentivizing a "wide net" approach to these motions would fall entirely upon those victims who rely on confidentiality to build a safe space where they can reflect authentically about trauma and recovery, without judgment. See McMaster v. Iowa Bd. of Psychol. Examiners, 509 N.W.2d 754, 758 (Iowa 1993) (quoting Hawaii Psych. Soc'y v. Ariyoshi, 481 F.Supp. 1028, 1039 (D. Haw. 1979)) ("The possibility that the psychotherapist could be compelled to reveal those communications to anyone . . . can deter persons from seeking needed treatment and destroy treatment in progress."); accord Thompson, 836 N.W.2d at 488 (quoting Clifford S. Fishman, Defense Access to a Prosecution Witness's Psychotherapy or Counseling Records, 86 Or. L. Rev. 1, 33 (2007)) ("The lawyers in the case may have every confidence that defense counsel has adhered and will adhere to the rules. To the witness, by contrast, this may provide little comfort compared to the sense of betrayal, humiliation, and exposure she is likely to experience.").

Indeed, the *Brady* materiality standard may set the bar too low. Lower thresholds for materiality in the Brady context are intended to incentivize prosecutors to err on the side of disclosure. See Kyles, 514 U.S. at 439 (noting that "a prosecutor anxious about tacking too close to the wind will disclose a favorable piece of evidence," which "is as it should be"); Agurs, 427 U.S. at 108 ("Because we are dealing with an inevitably imprecise standard, and because the significance of an item of evidence can seldom be predicted accurately until the entire record is complete, the prudent prosecutor will resolve doubtful questions in favor of disclosure."). But that was not the Iowa legislature's aim in enacting section 622.10(4). It recognized a "compelling interest in protecting the psychological and emotional needs of crime victims" and attempted to advance that interest "by limiting the disclosure of their mental health records." See Thompson, 836 N.W.2d at 489. Using a toothless standard to determine if erroneous non-disclosure requires a retrial would encourage disclosure in close cases—which is the opposite of what the legislature intended.

Barrett seems to endorse the analogy to *Brady* cases. *See* Def's Br. at 73–78. His discussion focuses on *DeSimone*, which involved non-disclosure of a timecard that would have contradicted a witness

whose testimony had minimally corroborated the victim's description of running to Hy-Vee to report her rape. See Def's Br. at 74-78 (citing DeSimone, 803 N.W.2d at 103-06). DeSimone illustrates how lenient Brady's materiality element can be, at its outer limits. That timecard had no relationship to the victim's testimony about being raped, or even to her testimony about ending up at Hy-Vee—it was undisputed that she called 911 from that Hy-Vee at 3:06 a.m. that morning and was taken directly to the hospital for a sexual assault examination, and a Hy-Vee employee testified about her "appearance and actions at the Hy-Vee store she ran to for help." See DeSimone, 803 N.W.2d at 100-01. All the timecard meant was that the witness who had seen a woman run across that street had to have seen someone else (perhaps on a different evening). And yet, the Iowa Supreme Court found that timecard passed the test for Brady materiality, because it might have caused the jury to believe that the victim's testimony that DeSimone raped her was all part of a conspiracy against him. See id. at 105-06. After *DeSimone*, it is impossible to argue that *Brady* materiality is an unfairly high standard for reversal on the basis of failure to disclose evidence that may impeach a witness in a sexual abuse prosecution. Again, *Brady* materiality may set the standard too *low*.

Barrett may argue that materiality is not applied in *Brady* cases as a metric for when reversal is required, and instead acts as a criterion for identifying when information must be disclosed (or for identifying when failure to produce information gives rise to a *Brady* claim). But *Kyles* explains that *Brady*'s materiality requirement serves *both* an error-identifying function and an error-weighing function: it identifies when suppression of favorable material is constitutionally significant, *and* it supplants any otherwise applicable harmless-error analysis. *See Kyles*, 514 U.S. at 434–36. This is clearest when *Kyles* states that the materiality of suppressed evidence must be "considered collectively, not item by item," in the final analysis of whether *Brady* violations undermine the validity of a conviction. *See id.* at 436–37 & n.10.

All of the Iowa cases that construe the term "exculpatory" in 622.10(4) to include impeachment evidence are deliberately giving it a meaning that tracks *Brady*'s favorability element. *See, e.g., Leedom*, 938 N.W.2d at 188; *Retterath*, 2017 WL 6516729, at *11. For this to make any analytical sense, and to give effect to the legislature's intent, there must be a corresponding materiality requirement that is *at least* as demanding as *Brady* materiality—if not in defining the scope of the required production, then in assessing the impact of non-disclosure.

3. At worst, errors in rulings on the applicability of a statutory privilege would be analyzed under a non-constitutional harmless-error standard.

It is possible to conceptualize the issue like this: Barrett was entitled to disclosure of these 75 pages of privileged records under section 622.10(4), and any violation of a trial right that arises from a statute or rule is presumed prejudicial unless the record affirmatively establishes otherwise. See, e.g., State v. Hanes, 790 N.W.2d 545, 550-51 (Iowa 2010). That would make some sense, although it would ignore the unique problem that section 622.10(4) meant to solve and the interests that it aims to promote. It would also ignore the fact that importing Brady's favorability standard to encompass impeachment without also importing its materiality standard would undermine the legislature's intent to enshrine the minimum level of protections that pass constitutional muster and then stop there, without requiring any further disclosures, creating any additional remedies, or placing any more burdens on victims (or courts). See Thompson, 836 N.W.2d at 481, 486–90. Finally, it would diverge from the standard analysis for errors in pretrial discovery rulings about the scope of a privilege. See Struve, 930 N.W.2d at 378; Jones, 836 N.W.2d at 14-41 & n.5. If not for any of that, a non-constitutional harmless-error standard would fit.

But Barrett takes it a step further—he demands a constitutional harmless error standard. That means swapping out the part of the claim about his right arising "under section 622.10(4)" and replacing it with a statement that his right to access A.F.'s privileged mental health records is constitutional in nature. See Def's Br. at 69-73. This was not the claim that Barrett advanced below, nor was it ruled upon by the district court; this new version of his claim cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. See Motion for New Trial (6/28/19) at 3-5; App. 49-51; RemandTr. 7:21-14:20; RemandTr. 19:2-20:2; Ruling (9/30/19); App. 58. Moreover, *Thompson* specifically rejected the notion of "a general due process right to obtain otherwise privileged evidence." See Thompson, 836 N.W.2d at 489-90. Barrett cannot leverage a finding that his statutory rights were violated to demand reversal under the harmless-error standard that applies to violations of *constitutional* rights—that is the whole point of separate standards "based on whether the alleged error is of a constitutional magnitude." See Hanes, 790 N.W.2d at 550-51. All of Barrett's arguments about exercises of constitutional rights that are affected by an erroneously underinclusive ruling under section 622.10(4) would eliminate the nonconstitutional harmless-error standard in criminal prosecutions

by linking every single evidentiary ruling, instructional dispute, and scheduling order to the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial. *See* Def's Br. at 70–71. The fact that a ruling affected a criminal trial does not mean any challenge to that ruling is constitutional in nature.

For example, Barrett argues that he was unable to cross-examine A.F. about his privileged mental health records, and "denial of effective cross-examination is a constitutional error of the first magnitude." See Def's Br. at 71–72 (quoting Neiderbach, 837 N.W.2d at 235 (Appel, J., specially concurring)). But a trial error can impact cross-examination without becoming a constitutional error. Challenges to rulings that control the scope of cross-examination are ordinarily reviewed for abuse of discretion, and error must be prejudicial to substantial rights to require reversal. See Iowa R. Evid. 5.611(a); Iowa R. Evid. 5.103(a); State v. Parker, 747 N.W.2d 196, 207-09 (Iowa 2008); State v. Hall, 297 N.W.2d 80, 91 (Iowa 1980); State v. Cuevas, 288 N.W.2d 525, 530-33 (Iowa 1980). Barrett cannot graft the analytical framework from a constitutional claim onto this challenge alleging violation of a statutory provision governing pretrial discovery, which was always non-constitutional in nature. See Barrett, 2018 WL 6132275, at *1 ("Barrett's challenge raises a non-constitutional claim.").

Barrett cites *Cockerham v. State*, where the Alaska Supreme Court discussed using a harmless-error standard to assess the effect of failure to produce a witness's juvenile records—but that was about a due-process right to evidence in the State's possession (like *Ritchie*), not a witness's privileged records possessed by a third party. See Cockerham v. State, 933 P.2d 537, 541-44 (Alaska 1997). And the discussion of harmless error was dicta, because the defendant "failed to make a sufficient showing that the records he requested would contain relevant impeachment evidence, and subsequently failed to cross-examine the witness on any matter relating to credibility," so there was no infringement of any constitutional right. *Id.* at 543–44. Barrett also cites People v. Boyette, where the California Court of Appeals ordered in camera review on remand and stated that reversal would be required unless the failure to conduct in camera review was "harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." See People v. Boyette, 201 Cal.App.3d 1527, 1534 (Cal. Ct. App. 1988). Again, those records were in the possession of "county offices"—so, like *Ritchie* and *Cockerham*, there were *Brady* concerns. And *Boyette* was overruled and mooted by *People v. Hammon*, where the California Supreme Court "declin[ed] to extend the defendant's Sixth Amendment rights of confrontation

and cross-examination to authorize pretrial disclosure of privileged information." *See People v. Hammon*, 938 P.2d 986, 989–93 (Cal. 1997). Barrett does not provide any authority for his assertion that proving an erroneous application of this statutory provision requires analysis under a constitutional harmless-error standard, especially where records are held by a third party. *See generally State v. Lynch*, 885 N.W.2d 89, 101 (Wis. 2016) (plurality opinion) ("*Ritchie*—a case concerning confidential records . . . held by the very agency charged with investigating the offense and therefore soundly rooted in *Brady*—never should have been stretched to cover privileged records held by agencies far removed from investigative and prosecutorial functions.").

4. The district court's findings should receive some amount of deference on appeal.

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